Case No. S230899

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

BARRY S. JAMESON,

PLAINTIFF AND PETITIONER,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

V.

FEB 29 2016

TADDESE DESTA,

DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC (8.25(b))

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,
Division One
Case No. D066793

Affirming a Judgment of the Superior Court of San Diego County

The Honorable Joel M. Pressman

Superior Court No. GIS9465

PETITIONER BARRY S. JAMESON'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP Michael J. Shipley, SBN 233674 Sierra Elizabeth, SBN 268133 Joseph M. Sanderson, SBN 305256 333 South Hope Street Los Angeles, CA 90071 Tel: (213) 680-8400

INTRODUCTION

In 2002, plaintiff Barry Jameson—indigent, incarcerated, and representing himself—sued Defendant Dr. Tadesse Desta for providing negligent medical treatment while Jameson was in prison. On three separate occasions over ten years, the San Diego County Superior Court dismissed Jameson's case. Each time, however, the Court of Appeal reversed. *Twelve years* after filing his complaint, Jameson was finally on the cusp of bringing his case to trial. But yet again, the superior court prevented his claims from reaching a jury. It granted Desta's oral motion for nonsuit based only upon Jameson's opening statement.

This time, however, the superior court also deprived Jameson of any effective remedy in the Court of Appeal. A few days before the commencement of trial, the trial court issued a minute order informing Jameson that an official reporter would not be present for his trial, invoking the San Diego Superior Court's policy of categorically refusing to provide official reporter services for all civil trials. Instead, under that policy, Mr. Jameson was required to secure and pay for the services of a private reporter pro tempore—services he clearly could not afford.

At the outset of his case, Jameson had been granted a fee waiver under Government Code section 68631. Under recently enacted Government Code section 68086, subdivision (b)—which requires that reporters' fees "shall be waived for a person who has been granted a fee waiver under [Government Code] section 68631"—he was entitled to an official reporter free of cost. But through its policy, the trial court rendered meaningless any bene-

fit that the Legislature bestowed in enacting section 68086, subdivision (b).

The Court of Appeal affirmed in full. (Jameson v. Desta (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 491, 495 (Jameson IV).) It compounded the superior court's error by holding that Government Code section 68086, subdivision (b) "does not mandate that a trial court provide indigent litigants with court reporter services where no official court reporter is provided by the court, as was true in this case." (Id. at pp. 502–03.) The court ruled that under such circumstances, every litigant, even an indigent one, must arrange and pay for the services of a private reporter pro tempore, under Rules of Court, rule 2.956. (Id.) Because Mr. Jameson suffered the arbitrary misfortune of filing his action in a county that—through no fault of his own—categorically refuses to provide an official reporter for any civil trial, the Court of Appeal held that he forfeited any appeal of the nonsuit for want of a proper reporter's transcript to provide a record on appeal. (Id. at pp. 503–04.).

The Court of Appeal's ruling cannot stand. California law requires the courts of this state to exercise their discretion in order to protect the rights of indigent and imprisoned litigants to access the courts, including the right to effectively appeal. Other than the trial court's own policy, no statute or rule permitted—much less required—the trial court to deprive Jameson of access to an official court reporter. Under the circumstances, by failing to take appropriate measures to ensure Jameson's access to the courts, the trial court abused its discretion, and significantly prejudiced Jameson.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for this Court's review are:

- 1. Jameson has been granted a fee waiver under Government Code section 68631. Did the Court of Appeal err by permitting the trial court's policy to never provide official reporters in civil trials to absolve the court of its obligation under Government Code § 68086 subdivision (b) to waive reporter's fees for fee waiver litigants?
- 2. Legislatively established policy and longstanding precedent from this Court require courts to exercise their discretion in a manner that protects the rights of indigent litigants with colorable claims to access the courts to redress their grievances. Did the superior court abuse that discretion by adopting a court reporter policy that has the practical effect of categorically denying all indigent litigants access to court reporters, and thus their practical ability to make a record for appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Jameson's Fourteen-Year Odyssey Through the Courts.

In 2002, Jameson sued Desta, a prison doctor, in San Diego Superior Court, alleging negligent medical treatment for Hepatitis C while Mr. Jameson was incarcerated. (*Jameson IV*, *supra*, 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 494.) The operative counts of his complaint litigated by the parties allege medical negligence and breach of fiduciary duty through lack of informed consent. (*Id.* at pp. 495–96.)

Over the next thirteen years, Jameson's case followed a circuitous but predictable course. The superior court would find some reason to dismiss his case, only to be reversed by the Court of Appeal.

In 2005, the superior court dismissed Jameson's complaint for lack of diligent service. (Jameson v. Desta (July 2, 2007, D047824), 2007 WL 1885104 at *2 opn. mod. July 26, 2007 [nonpub. opn.] (Jameson I).) But three years earlier, Desta had signed a "notice and acknowledgement of receipt indicating that he had been served with a summons and a complaint." (Id. at *6) The Court of Appeal reversed in an unpublished opinion. (Id. at *9.)

On remand, the superior court again dismissed when Jameson—still incarcerated—failed to appear at a telephonic case management conference. (Jameson v. Desta (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 672, 674 (Jameson II).) But the evidence showed that Jameson's nonappearance resulted from prison officials denying him access to the telephone. (Id. at pp. 681–83.) The Court of Appeal again reversed, holding that the superior court had abused

its discretion by depriving Jameson of "meaningful access to the courts." (Id. at 683.)

On a second remand, the superior court granted summary judgment in favor of Desta, finding that Jameson had not come forward with evidence to raise triable issues as to causation. (Jameson v. Desta (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1144, 1148 (Jameson III).) The Court of Appeal reversed a third time. (Id. at 1149.) On the merits, it ruled that Desta failed to meet his initial burden on Jameson's informed consent claim and that Jameson had sufficiently raised triable issues as to causation on his negligence claim. (Id. at pp. 1164-74.) The Court of Appeal further determined that the trial court improperly permitted Desta's lawyer to take an ex parte deposition of Jameson's medical expert, over Jameson's objections. (Id. at pp. 1174-76.) The court noted that the trial judge's statements in overruling Jameson's objections were "entirely inconsistent with [the] mandate" "that an indigent incarcerated litigant has a right to prosecute a bona fide civil action on his own behalf and to be afforded meaningful access to the courts in doing so, and that the trial courts are to ensure that this right is protected." (Id. at p. 1176.) The court was sufficiently concerned by the superior court's comments that it found it necessary to "remind the trial court of its obligation to 'ensure indigent prisoner litigants are afforded meaningful access to the courts'[.]" (*Id.* at p. 1149.)

Finally, with the case before it a fourth time, the superior court set the matter for jury trial on April 21, 2014. (See RA 231–32.) A minute order reflecting a hearing on April 18, 2014—with

Jameson appearing by telephone—states that the court notified the parties that "the Court no longer provides a court reporter for civil trials, and that the parties have to provide their own court reporters for trial." (*Ibid.*) After trial was continued twice to address pending motions (RA 250–51, 252–53), a civil jury trial commenced on April 28, 2014. (RA 254.)

After an hour-long jury selection process, Jameson, pro se and appearing via telephone from prison, gave his opening statement. (RA 257.) No court reporter, official or otherwise, was present to transcribe the proceedings.² After giving his own opening statement, Desta moved for nonsuit. (RA 257, see Jameson IV, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 497.) The superior court granted the motion, dismissing the case for a fourth time, ruling that "Jameson did not establish causation in his opening statement," (RA 257, see Jameson IV, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at pp. 503–04), in significant tension with the appellate court's most recent ruling in Jameson III. (Cf. Jameson III, supra, 215 Cal.App.4th at p. 1168 [holding that "Jameson raised a triable issue of fact with re-

The hearing itself was not reported. (RA 231.) This minute order is the only reference in the record that the superior court would not be providing a reporter.

Jameson's pro se opening brief to the Court of Appeal asserted that at the beginning of trial, Defendant indicated that he would not be having the trial reported. (Jameson's Appellant's Br. at p. 42.) Jameson's brief stated that he orally objected to the court's refusal to provide a reporter at that time, but that his objections were overruled. (*Ibid.*) The trial court's minute order does not reflect any objection or ruling on it (RA 256–257) and without a transcript, there is no way to know what was said.

spect to both the standard of care and causation."].) Judgment was entered on July 31, 2014. (RA 259-60.)

II. The San Diego Superior Court's 'No Official Reporters' Policy.

"At a hearing 10 days prior to the commencement of the jury trial, the trial court informed the parties that 'the Court no longer provides a court reporter for civil trials, and that parties have to provide their own reporters for trial." (Jameson IV, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 500 [quoting RA 232].)³ Indeed, since 2013, as a matter of official court policy, the San Diego Superior Court has not provided official court reporters in civil, family, or probate matters, including all civil trials. (See S.D. Super. Ct. Form ADM-317, Policy Regarding Normal Availability and Unavailability of Official Court Reporters.)⁴ The policy affords no exceptions for indigent litigants, even when they have qualified for a fee waiver and have no other way to pay for a record. (See S.D. Super. Ct. Form ADM-315, Official Reporter Pro Tempore Policy at 2.)⁵ It specifically states:

In cases where the court no longer provides court reporters, indigent litigants are not entitled to have the court provide or pay for a court reporter based on a fee waiver. Fee waivers apply only to

The hearing occurred on April 18, 2014, which was only three days before the scheduled onset of the trial. (See RA 231–32.) As noted, after two continuances, jury selection began on April 28, 2014, which was ten days after the trial court's admonishment about the lack of official reporters.

⁴ Attached as Ex. A, per Rules of Court, rule 8.520(h).

⁵ Attached as Ex. B, per Rules of Court, rule 8.520(h).

fees charged by the court. They do not apply to court reporter fees and costs in cases where the court is not providing the court reporter. Privately retained court reporters are independent from the court, and are allowed to charge indigent litigants for their services.

Ibid. (emphasis added).

The trial court's policy left Jameson without recourse. Incarcerated and indigent, he could not afford to pay for the services of a private reporter pro tempore, the only permissible way under the trial court's policy for him to make an adequate record of oral proceedings for appeal. By outsourcing all civil trial reporting to private reporters, the trial court has rendered it effectively impossible for an indigent civil litigant like Jameson to create a trial record, fee waiver or not.

III. The Opinion of the Court of Appeal.

Jameson timely appealed the judgment of nonsuit, as well as several other orders of the trial court. (AA 1207–09.) On the nonsuit, Jameson argued that the trial court erred in ruling that based on his opening statement, he could never establish causation. (Jameson IV, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at pp. 504–05.) Jameson's arguments included several claims of error related to the trial court's decision, such as its refusal to permit Jameson to admit his own expert's testimony by deposition, its refusal to permit Jameson to establish causation by relying on Desta's expert or the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, and various issues regarding the trial court's approved jury instructions. (Ibid.)

The Court of Appeal, however, declined to reach the merits of any of these arguments, holding that "none of [them are] cognizable in the absence of a reporter's transcript." (Id. at 505.) Citing an earlier case, the court explained that "a[n] appellant who fails to provide a reporter's transcript on appeal is precluded 'from raising any evidentiary issues on appeal." (Id. at 504 [quoting Hodges v. Mark (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 651, 657].) "Because an order granting a nonsuit is dependent on a review of the evidence to be presented at trial, an appellant cannot obtain reversal of such order in the absence of a reporter's transcript." (Ibid.) As "the record on appeal does not contain a reporter's transcript[,] Jameson is therefore precluded from obtaining a reversal of the trial court's ruling granting Desta's motion for nonsuit." (Ibid.)

As to why Jameson lacked the record he needed to preserve his appeal, he argued: (1) that the trial court erred by "waiting until trial started to disallow a court reporter"—depriving him of an opportunity to make a record on the issue—and (2) that Code of Civil Procedure section 269(a)(1) and [Government Code] section 68086(b)6—which requires that a court reporter's fee "shall be waived for a person who has been granted a fee waiver under Section 68631"—required the court to provide him with an official reporter free of charge. (Jameson's Appellant's Br. at 43.)

The Court of Appeal rejected these arguments. On the timing, the court found that the admonition reflected in the trial court's April 18, 2014 minute order was adequate, particularly because Jameson's brief had not specifically argued that the trial court did not properly follow Rules of Court, rule 2.956, which

addresses the court's obligation to provide notice of the unavailability of official reporters. (Jameson IV, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 502 & fn.10.) And as to Jameson's right to a free reporter, the court held that section 68086(b) requires only to a waiver of appearance fees for official reporters. (Id. at p. 503.) According to the court, it does not, however, require a free reporter when the superior court declines to provide any official reporters at all, and instead requires all parties—pecunious and poor alike—to secure the services of private reporters pro tempore. (Ibid.) Relying on Rules of Court, rule 2.956(c) and the superior court's official policy, the court held that "it is a 'party's responsibility to pay the reporter's fee' where an official court reporter is not provided by the court," even when that party is an indigent litigant who has been granted a fee waiver. (Ibid.)⁷

Rejecting Jameson's other arguments, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in full in an unpublished opinion issued on October 14, 2015. (*Id.* at p. 495.) On October 20, 2015, the acting presiding justice on the panel ordered the opinion certified for publication. The court's decision became final on November 19, 2015. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.264(b)(3).)

Jameson filed a timely petition for review on December 1, 2015, which the Court granted on January 27, 2016.

⁶ Any further references to "section 68086" are to the Government Code.

Neither rule 2.956 nor the superior court's policies were expressly addressed in Desta's appellate briefing. (See Desta's Respondent's Br. at p. 50–53; cf. People v. Alice (2007) 41 Cal.4th 668, 671.)

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION MUST BE REVERSED

As explained below, this Court has often been presented with the question of when—the statutes on the subject being silent—courts can imply exceptions to mandatory court fees for in forma pauperis litigants. Over the past hundred years, it has repeatedly answered that question with an emphatic "yes." This case, in contrast, presents an easier question. Here, in section 68086, subdivision (b), the Legislature has affirmatively determined that in forma pauperis litigants are entitled to the waiver of a court reporter's appearance fee. Can California's courts nonetheless evade that obligation and effectively deprive these litigants of an appellate record by outsourcing all civil reporting to private reporters who charge an appearance fee to all litigants, rich and poor alike? The answer, resoundingly, is "no."

California law recognizes that poor and imprisoned litigants have a fundamental right to access the courts, including the appellate process. Under well-established principles, the courts of this state must exercise their discretion in crafting procedures sufficient to vindicate that right. Although the trial court in this case had means within its discretion to ensure the presence of a reporter at Jameson's trial to create a record for appeal, it took no steps at all to preserve Jameson's access to an appeal. Indeed, it has essentially tied its own hands by enacting a courtwide policy that makes it practically *impossible* for any feewaiver litigant to obtain court reporting services at his civil trial. In doing so, the trial court ran afoul of the clear policies of this state and abused its discretion in denying Jameson access to the courts.

I. California Law Requires Courts to Exercise Their Discretion in Favor of Ensuring Indigent Litigants' Rights of Access to Justice.

"Access to justice is a fundamental and essential right in a democratic society. It is the responsibility of government to ensure that all people enjoy this right." (California Commission on Access to Justice (October 2002) The Path to Equal Justice: A Five-Year Status Report on Access to Justice in California, Finding A, page 36; see also Cruz v. Superior Court (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 175, 179.) In 2009, the California Legislature declared as the policy of this state, "[t]hat our legal system cannot provide 'equal justice under law' unless all persons have access to the courts without regard to their economic means." (Gov't Code, § 68630, subd. (a)). "California law and court procedures should ensure that court fees are not a barrier to court access for those with insufficient economic means to pay those fees." (Ibid.) "Providing access to justice for self-represented litigants is a priority for California courts." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 10.960(b).)

Indeed, as the Court of Appeal recognized in Jameson II, California law specifically affords prisoners "a statutory right to initiate civil actions." (Jameson II, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 678 [citing Penal Code, § 2601(d)].) "In the case of an indigent prisoner initiating a bona fide civil action, this statutory right carries with it a right of meaningful access to the courts to prosecute the action." (Ibid. [quoting Wantuch v. Davis (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 786, 792 (Wantuch)].)

These policies have a lengthy and proud lineage in the decisions of this Court. Nearly a century ago, the Court held that

California courts have an inherent equitable power to permit an indigent person to litigate in forma pauperis and bring actions without paying filing fees. (Martin v. Superior Court (1917) 176 Cal. 289, 296 (Martin); see also Baltayan v. Estate of Getemyan (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1427, 1436 (Baltayan) (conc. opn. of Johnson, J.). ["Nearly 85 years ago, in Martin v. Superior Court, the California Supreme Court proclaimed poverty could not be allowed to deny anyone access to this state's courts" (footnote omitted)].) Through the next seventy years, the Court extended that right in various respects.

Two years after *Martin*, the Court held that an indigent could obtain a waiver of statutory jury fees, even though the statute afforded no express exception. (*Majors v. Superior Court* (1919) 181 Cal. 270, 274 (*Majors*).) Later decisions followed suit for other fees. (*Conover v. Hall* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 842, 851 [power to waive statutorily required undertaking to obtain preliminary injunction]; *Ferguson v. Keays* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 649, 654 (*Ferguson*) [power to waive appellate filing fees]).8

Ferguson is most closely on point. There, the question presented was the "inherent power of an appellate court to waive its own filing fees to accommodate indigent civil litigants[.]" (Ferguson, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 654.) The pertinent fee statutes neither permitted nor prohibited courts from waiving filing fees on ap-

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