SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BARRY S. JAMESON, Plaintiff and Appellant

VS.

TADDESE DESTA, M.D., Defendant and Respondent

SUPPLIE COURT

13AY 13 八百

Frank A. Modeline Clerk
Deputy

California Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate Dist., Div. One, Case No. D066793 San Diego County Superior Court Case No. GIS 9465 Hon. Joel M. Pressman, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

James J. Wallace II, Esq. – SBN 128627
David J. Ozeran, Esq. – SBN 137452
LA FOLLETTE, JOHNSON, DE HAAS, FESLER & AMES
501 West Broadway, Suite 1075
San Diego, California 92101
Tel: (619) 719-4700
Fax: (619) 719-4701

Fax: (619) 719-4701 jwallace@ljdfa.com dozeran@ljdfa.com

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

discretion by the trial court." Id. at 926-927.

In Civil Service Commission of Los Angeles County v. Superior Court (1976) 63 Cal. App.3d 627, the Court held that an indigent person seeking judicial review of an administrative determination is not entitled to a free transcript of the administrative record even though the transcript is required so that the reviewing court may exercise its independent judgment of the evidence. Id. at 629. The Court held that due process and equal protection did not require the provision of free transcripts to those seeking to protect an economic interest: "Price also asserts that due process and equal protection of the law require that he be supplied with a free transcript in view of his indigent status. Authority is to the contrary where the interest which an appeal seeks to protect is an economic one." Id. at 631, citing Otwein v. Schwab, supra, 410 U.S. 656, 659; United States v. Kras, supra, 409 U.S. 434.

In Zumwalt v. San Diego County Department of Social Services, supra, 167 Cal. App.3d 835, where the indigent petitioner wanted to appeal the imposition of a conservatorship and his confinement in a county mental health facility, the court held that equal protection required that he be provided with a free transcript, stating, "Where one's liberty is at stake application of the strict scrutiny test is required." Id. at 839.

Here, the only interest at stake is the plaintiff's economic interest as a

plaintiff in a personal injury lawsuit. The courts have not recognized this interest as being so fundamental that a plaintiff in a civil action has a constitutional right to a court reporter or a free transcript on appeal.

VII.

THE ISSUE SHOULD BE LEFT TO THE LEGISLATURE

Ultimately, the decision whether to mandate the provision of reporters in such actions should be left to the Legislature. The Legislature can analyze the fiscal impact of such policy and it can fashion legislation that would be most effective if it chooses to do so. The Legislature has allowed the trial courts to adopt policies in this regard. The county courts, well aware of their budgetary needs and constraints, are in the best position to make such determinations.

For example, if reporters are to be provided to indigent litigants in civil actions, then the question arises whether they should be provided for all hearings or only trials. The record in this case reflects that there were numerous pretrial hearings held. Was the plaintiff entitled to have a reporter present at each of those? Arguably, reporters would have to be provided to indigent litigants at all hearings, because an appealable issue can arise at *any* hearing. Such decisions involve a weighing of the costs and benefits of providing a court reporter for pretrial hearings.

In addition, the Legislature can authorize funding that would provide a means for indigents to obtain transcripts, so that the reporting of proceedings is not a mere idle act. The plaintiff has provided this Court with no evidence regarding the fiscal impact on the courts of having to absorb the cost of providing reporters in all civil cases involving indigent litigants.

Government Code sections 68086 and 68086.1 allow each county to determine on its own whether to provide court reporters in civil actions, and the extent to which such services are provided. This allows for a flexible approach whereby each county can weigh its funding abilities and priorities. Except where there is a constitutional right to a court service (such as the provision of counsel or reporter's transcripts to indigent criminal defendants), the allocation of resources is best left to the Legislature and the individual county court systems.

The California Court's website contains a statement by the Chief Justice on the Governor's proposed 2016-2017 budget, in which Justice Cantil-Sakauye noted that the budget would provide \$146.3 million in new funding for the courts. As stated by the Chief Justice, "The budget contains 'proposals to support efforts by the Judicial Council to improve court operations and increase access." (Emphasis added.) Lack of access, such as the type argued by the plaintiff, is

²⁰"Chief Justice's statement in response to the Governor's Budget Proposal (Jan 7, 2016)," which can be found on the California Courts' website at the "Budget & Finance" page at the "Policy & Administration" tab. http://www.courts.ca.gov/34062.htm

resolved through the legislative process based on the State's ability to provide funding.

For example, the Chief Justice's statement on the proposed budget referenced above contains a link to a discussion of the proposed budget for the judicial branch, which states, "Given California's diversity, the court system is faced with significant linguistic challenges. The Judicial Council's current annual budget allocation for interpreter services is \$94.5 million. To improve language access for limited English proficient court users, the Budget includes an additional \$7 million General Fund to provide court interpreter services in civil proceedings."²¹

Thus, the court system faces all kinds of "lack of access" issues (courtroom closures, language barriers, lack of reporters in civil cases, and so on), but such issues are best left to the Legislature to resolve through legislation and funding, which the Legislature can and does do. In the absence of a constitutional right, which does not exist in this case, this Court should not intervene in this political process to mandate the provision of such services.

In <u>City of Rohnert Park v. Superior Court</u>, *supra*, 146 Cal. App.3d 420, in ruling that indigent litigants in a civil action are not entitled to free transcripts on

²¹This can be found in the "Governor's Budget Summary – 2016-2017" at http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/JudicialBranch_BudgetSummary.pdf.

appeal, the Court expressly recognized the issue presented herein, which is that the right of an indigent to appeal is "rendered a hollow right" if the appeal requires the preparation of an expensive transcript. Nevertheless, the Court held that it is for the Legislature to provide for free transcripts rather than the courts: "We recognize the force of the argument that the right to appeal in forma pauperis is rendered a hollow right if assertion of appellate contentions requires preparation of an expensive transcript or transcripts. We could envision the Legislature concluding that in forma pauperis appellants should be furnished free transcripts to support their appeals. But because the contrary approach is both standard practice and established decisional law, the Legislature must make clear its intention to provide such a right to in forma pauperis appellants if it makes that decision." Id. at 429.

Thus, it should be left to the Legislature to determine whether courts are required to provide free reporters to indigents and under what circumstances. The current statutory scheme does not provide for free reporters to indigent litigants in courts that do not provide such reporters, and if that is to be changed, it is the role of the Legislature to do so by amending section 68086.

VIII.

THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO UTILIZE AN ALTERNATIVE MEANS FOR SUBMITTING AN ADEQUATE RECORD ON APPEAL

The judgment should be affirmed even if this Court finds that the trial court erred in not providing a reporter at trial. Although the plaintiff was unable to submit a reporter's transcript on appeal, he had a perfectly acceptable alternative available to him by way of a settled statement, pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.137. This was not an appeal following a lengthy trial where the appellant is challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, wherein a settled statement may not be a viable means of presenting what happened in the lower court. (For example, see Sidebothom v. Superior Court (1958) 161 Cal. App.2d 624, in which the trial court refused to settle a statement following a 40-day trial that took place over seven months and in which 27 witnesses testified.) This was an appeal following opening statements, in which a settled statement merely had to summarize what was said during plaintiff's opening statement, including objections and rulings thereon. (See Sweet v. Markwart (1953) 115 Cal. App.2d 735, 743-745, in which Court of Appeal allowed an appeal from a nonsuit to proceed by way of a settled statement.)

In the cases that have found that indigents in certain types of cases are

entitled to free transcripts, the courts have held that such transcripts do not have to be provided where adequate alternatives to a reporter's transcript exist. Mayer v. Chicago, supra, 404 U.S. at 194; Draper v. Washington, supra, 372 U.S. at 495 ["full narrative statement based perhaps on the trial judge's minutes taken during trial" might be an adequate substitute]; Griffin v. Illinois, supra, 351 U.S. at 20 ["bystanders' bills of exceptions or other methods of reporting trial proceedings could be used in some cases"]; Crespo v. Superior Court, supra, 41 Cal. App.3d at 119 [there are "many cases in which an agreed or settled statement ... will be adequate"]; Rucker v. Superior Court, supra, 104 Cal. App. at 686 [bill of exceptions adequate alternative to reporter's transcript].

In Agnew v. Contractors Safety Association (1963) 216 Cal. App.2d 154, the plaintiff appealed from a judgment against him and the denial of his motion for new trial, as well as from the court's order denying the plaintiff's request for the preparation of the reporter's and clerks transcripts on appeal at public expense. The appellate court noted that "[t]he California Rules of Court provide for several methods of presenting a record on appeal," citing the rules allowing for a reporter's transcript, a clerk's transcript, an agreed statement and a settled statement. Id. at 160. The court recognized that in the absence of reporter's and clerk's transcripts, the plaintiff could have utilized an agreed statement or a settled statement. Id. at 160-161.

The "gist of plaintiff's appeal" in Agnew was insufficiency of the evidence to support the findings of fact. Id. at 162. Although the plaintiff submitted a settled statement, the Court determined that the plaintiff failed to include in it what was needed to review the issues on appeal. Id. at 162, fn. 6. However, of critical importance, it is clear from the Court's opinion that the plaintiff *could have* proceeded to obtain review of these issues had he submitted an adequate and properly prepared settled statement. In other words, a settled statement is a recognized and acceptable method of presenting a record on appeal involving review of *evidentiary* issues. There was nothing that prohibited the plaintiff in the instant action from proceeding by way of a settled statement other than the fact that he opted not to do so.

In <u>Leslie v. Roe</u>, *supra*, 41 Cal. App.3d 104, in holding that indigent plaintiffs in civil actions are not entitled to free reporter's transcripts on appeal, the Court recognized that an agreed statement or a settled statement may provide an adequate record on appeal: "Although appellants do not have the right to transcripts at public expense, the California Rules of Court provide alternative means of preparing the record on appeal which should prove adequate. The relevant facts may be stated in an agreed statement of the parties (rule 6) or a settled statement (rule 7). Perhaps only a partial reporter's transcript would be necessary (rule 4) and its cost might be low enough for appellants to afford." Id. at

In <u>Garziano v. Appellate Dept.</u> (1978) 84 Cal. App.3d 799, one factor on which the appellate court relied in affirming a lower court order denying an indigent litigant's request for a free transcript on appeal was that the plaintiff did not request the preparation of an agreed or settled statement: "And we observe that Graziano made no effort to secure an agreed or settled statement or partial reporter's transcript." (Emphasis added.) <u>Id.</u> at 801.

Similarly, in the instant action, the plaintiff made no effort to secure an agreed or settled statement. Rule 8.137 requires that a party file a motion in the trial court in order to proceed by way of settled statement. "Unless there is some justifiable excuse, a trial judge may not arbitrarily refuse to settle the statement." Western States Const. Co. v. Municipal Court of San Francisco (1951) 38 Cal.2d 146, 148-149. The plaintiff in the instant action was no stranger to filing motions, as evidenced by the many motions and four appeals he filed in this case. He certainly could have proceeded by way of a settled statement in this case, but he chose not to do so.

The plaintiff states at page 20 of his Opening Brief that "the trial court in this case did *nothing at all* to ensure that Jameson had meaningful access to the appellate process following the fourth dismissal of his case." That would only be true if the judge denied a motion to use a settled statement. It was Jameson who

"did nothing at all" to ensure meaningful access to the appellate court by failing to seek to proceed by way of a settled statement.

Rule 8.137 demonstrates that a settled statement was intended to be used in situations exactly like that presented herein, where there was no reporter or where the plaintiff cannot afford to purchase a transcript. Two of the three alternative reasons set forth in the Rule for proceeding by way of a settled statement are that "[t]he designated oral proceedings were not reported or cannot be transcribed" and "[t]he appellant is unable to pay for a reporter's transcript and funds are not available from the Transcript Reimbursement Fund..." Rule 8.137, subdivisions (a)(2)(B) and (a)(2)(c)).

As one commentator recognized, "It does appear, though, that where valid alternatives [to the provision of a free transcript on appeal] are available, the Court will insist that these alternatives be exercised." Stewart, "The Right of an Indigent to a Free Transcript on Appeal in Civil Litigation," 2 W. St. L. Rev. 220, 226 (1974).

The burden is on the appellant to present an adequate record on appeal.

Maria P. v. Riles (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1281, 1295. As the proceedings were not reported, the plaintiff was *obligated* to seek to proceed by way of a settled statement. He was not entitled to sit on his hands and do nothing, and then seek a reversal on the grounds that he did not have an adequate record on appeal. "Pro.

per. litigants are held to the same standards as attorneys." <u>Kobayashi v. Superior</u> <u>Court</u> (2009) 175 Cal. App.4th 536, 543.

In Maria P., the defendants maintained that the trial court's failure to issue a statement of decision explaining how it reached its attorney fee award precluded review of the award. The California Supreme Court recognized that "The court's failure to specify in its written order the basis of its calculation of the award, and the absence in the appellate record of a transcript of the fee hearing or a settled statement of that proceeding (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4(e)) make it impossible for us to determine whether the trial court based its award on the lodestar adjustment method." Id. at 1295. The Court affirmed the award because "defendants should have augmented the record with a settled statement of the proceeding. ... Because they failed to furnish an adequate record of the attorney fee proceedings, defendants' claim must be resolved against them." Id. at 1295.

Regardless of whether it was error to deny the plaintiff a court reporter, the judgment should be affirmed, because any error was harmless, as the plaintiff could have proceeded by way of a settled statement, and any error was waived in light of the plaintiff's failure to proceed by way of a settled statement. Any error on the part of the trial court in denying the plaintiff a court reporter could have been easily remedied had the plaintiff filed a motion for a settled statement. By failing to seek to proceed by way of a settled statement, the plaintiff failed to meet

his burden of presenting an adequate record on appeal, and he should be deemed to have waived any right to a reversal on the grounds that there did not exist an adequate record on appeal.

IX.

ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF COULD NOT HAVE PURCHASED A TRANSCRIPT

In addition to the foregoing, the judgment should be affirmed even if the San Diego County Superior Court abused its discretion in its policy regarding reporters, because the plaintiff failed to demonstrate that he would have been able to obtain a transcript to use on appeal *even if* a reporter had been present for the trial.

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